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ACOM 

MCDONALD LAW OFFICES 

BRANDON B. MCDONALD, ESQ 

Nevada Bar No. 011206 

brandon@mcdonaldlawyers.com 

2451 W. Horizon Ridge Pkwy., #120 

Henderson, Nevada 89052 

Telephone:   (702) 992-0569 

Facsimile:    (702) 385-7411 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

STEVEN BARKET, an individual; and G65 

VENTURES, LLC., a Nevada Limited Liability 

Company, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

 

SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 

BROWN, an individual; and NAVNEET 

SHARDA, an individual; FURNITURE 

BOUTIQUE, LLC., A Nevada Limited Liability 

Company, and DOES 1-X, inclusive and ROE 

CORPORATIONS XI through XX, 

 

Defendants. 

 

Case No.: A-17-756274 

Dept. No.: XVIII 

 

 

 

 
 

AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

 COMES NOW, Plaintiffs, by and through their counsel of record, Brandon B. McDonald, 

Esq. of MCDONALD LAW OFFICES and for their causes of action, allege as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff, Steven Barket, at all times relevant hereto, was and is an individual 

residing and doing business in Clark County, Nevada. 

Case Number: A-17-756274-C
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8/11/2017 3:26 PM
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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2. Plaintiff G65 Ventures, LLC, at all times relevant hereto, was and is a Nevada 

limited liability company doing business in Clark County, Nevada.  

3. Defendant Shafik Hirji at all times relevant hereto, was and is an individual 

residing and doing business in Clark County, Nevada. 

4. Defendant Shafik Brown at all times relevant hereto, was and is an individual 

residing and doing business in Clark County, Nevada. 

5. Defendant Dr. Navneet Sharda at all times relevant hereto, was and is an 

individual residing and doing business in Clark County, Nevada. 

6. Defendant Furniture Boutique, LLC., at all times relevant hereto, was and is a 

Nevada Limited Liability Company doing business in Clark County, Nevada.  

7. The true names or Capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or 

otherwise, of Defendants named herein as DOES I through X and ROE CORPORATIONS XI 

through XX, are unknown to Plaintiffs, who therefore sues said Defendants by such fictitious 

names; Plaintiffs are informed and believes and therein alleges that each of the Defendants 

designated herein as DOE and ROE are responsible in some manner for the events and 

happenings referred to, and caused damages proximately to Plaintiff, and Plaintiffs will ask leave 

of the Court to amend the Complaint to insert the true names and capacities of DOES I through 

X and ROE CORPORATIONS XI through XX, inclusive, when the same have been ascertained, 

and to join such Defendants in this action.  

JURISDICTION 

8. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  
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9. That the foregoing causes of action are related to individuals and entities who are 

either incorporated in the State of Nevada or regularly conduct business within this jurisdiction. 

Furthermore, the facts described in the General Allegations occurred in Clark County, Nevada.  

10. This Court has subject matter and personal jurisdiction over the parties in this 

proceeding; additionally, venue of this action is proper.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

11. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

12. Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown are the owner-operators of three Furniture 

Fashions store locations, (hereafter “FF1”, “FF2”, and “FF3”).  

13. Around November 2016, Plaintiff Steven Barket (Herinafter “Barket”) and 

Defendants Shafik Hirji (Hereinafter “Hirji”) and Shafik Brown (Hereinafter “Brown”) began 

discussing the financing of a new furniture store, Furniture Fashions store no. 4, (Hereafter 

“FF4”).  

14. On January 20, 2017, Plaintiff Barket and Defendants Hirji and Brown entered 

into an agreement (herein after the “Agreement”) (attached herein as Exhibit 1) to form a new 

company, separate from all other Furniture Fashions stores, which would be known as Sunset 

Furniture, Inc., (hereinafter “Sunset”). 

15. FF4 would be located at the corner of Sunset Road and Stephanie Street in 

Henderson, NV. 

16. The contract calls for Steven Barket to provide a million dollar ($1,000,000.00) in 

funding to be repaid from the furniture stores and Brown Enterprises and Hirji and Brown to 

provide their experience and retail knowledge for the operation of FF4.  
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17. The company would be set up as follows: 47.5% owned by Hirji and Brown; 

47.5% controlled by a trust, whose trustee is Barket1; and 5% controlled by a trust.  

18. In exchange for the million-dollar funding, the contract also grants to Steven 

Barket a 15% ownership of each of FF1, FF2, and FF3; or Hirji and Brown may, at the time of 

funding, pay Barket one hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($150,000.00) and FF1, FF2, and 

FF3 will remain in the ownership and control of Hirji and Brown.  

19. The contract also provides that in return for previous money raised 50% of 

Olivia’s Mexican Restaurant will be conveyed to Barket (25%) and to potential investor, Dr. 

Navneet Sharda (25%) (Hereinafter “Sharda”). 

20. The contract also states that Barket will be paid $60,000 for work and expenses 

from November 2016 through the opening of FF4 by April 2017. 

21. Barket secured the million dollars in funding by obtaining a loan on behalf of 

Sunset from Sharda. 

22. Upon information and belief, Sharda convinced Hirji and Brown that they could 

proceed in this venture without Barket, and that they did not have to honor the Agreement and 

that any ownership or profits that belonged to Barket should be given to Sharda.  

23. Upon information and belief, Defendants formed a new company called Furniture 

Boutique, LLC., (hereinafter “Boutique”) and began to transfer assets from Sunset to this new 

company, or to Brown and Hirji, keeping most transactions below $10,000.00. 

24. Barket became aware of issues with the use of funds when a check to a lender 

bounced. He then demanded to see the rest of Sunset’s checks and expenditures.  

25. Defendants refused to allow Barket to see the company financial records.  

                                                 
1 Barket’s interests would in part be held through G65 Ventures, LLC.  Therefore, whenever reference is 
this Complaint is made to “Barket” such reference also includes Plaintiff G65 Ventures, LLC. 
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26. As majority owner, Barket removed the current officers and appointed new 

officers. The new officers then retrieved the company’s financials and became aware of the 

scope of Defendants’ breaches, thefts, and frauds.  

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach Of Contract 

(Against Hirji and Brown) 

 

27. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

28. The Agreement is an enforceable contract to which Plaintiff and Defendants Hirji 

and Brown are parties.  

29. Plaintiff Barket and Defendants Hirji and Brown entered into the Agreement for 

the formation of Sunset and the establishment of FF4.  

30. Plaintiff Barket has abided by the terms of the Agreement and fulfilled his duties 

in accordance with the Agreement or has been excused from doing so.  

31. These Defendants have materially breached the terms of the Agreement, among 

other things, in that they conspired to form Boutique to establish FF4 without the involvement of 

Barket, removed funds from Sunset and placed them in Boutique despite not owning a majority 

of Sunset, and failed to convey any of the promised ownership interest in Olivia’s Mexican 

Restaurant to Barket.  

32. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches of the Agreement, 

Plaintiffs have suffered damages in excess of $15,000.00.  

33. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

/// 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach Of The Implied Covenant Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing 

(Against Hirji and Brown) 

 

34. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

35. In every contract, there exists an implied obligation to act in good faith and deal 

fairly.  

36. By engaging in the conduct described above and throughout the Complaint, 

Defendants have breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing contained in the 

Agreement.   

37.  Defendants’ breach has caused Plaintiffs to suffer damages in excess of $15,000.  

38. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Tortious Breach Of The Implied Covenant Of Good Faith 

 And Fair Dealing 

(Against Hirji and Brown) 

 

39. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

40. Plaintiffs and Defendants Hirji and Brown entered into a valid contract. 

41. In accordance with this Agreement, Defendants owned Plaintiffs a duty of good 

faith and fair dealing arising from this Agreement. 

42. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs especially relied and placed their trust in 

Defendants given their superior and entrusted position as President and shareholders of the 

company to faithfully perform in good faith this contract.  
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43. Defendants Brown owed a fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs given his capacity as 

President of the company.  

44. Defendants breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing by engaging in the 

misconduct as set forth herein.  

45. Defendants’ breach has caused Plaintiffs to suffer damages in excess of 

$15,000.00. 

46. Defendants acted with oppression, fraud and malice and as such the Plaintiffs are 

entitled to an award of punitive or exemplary damages to be proven at trial. 

47. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach Of Fiduciary Duty 

(Against Hirji and Brown) 

 

48. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

49. Defendants Hirji and Brown as President and Officers of Sunset, owed a fiduciary 

duty to Plaintiff.  

50. Plaintiffs had a right to expect trust and confidence in Defendants as officers and 

directors of Sunset.  

51. Defendants breach their fiduciary duty to Plaintiff.  

52. Defendants’ breach has caused Plaintiffs to suffer damages in excess of 

$15,000.00. 

53. Defendants acted with oppression, fraud and malice and as such the Plaintiffs are 

entitled to an award of punitive or exemplary damages to be proven at trial. 
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54. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unjust Enrichment 

(Against Hirji, Brown, Sharda, and Boutique) 

 

55. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

56. Plaintiffs have procured money and property for Defendants through his 

performance of the Agreement. 

57. Defendants have unjustly removed the money and property, procured for them by 

the Plaintiff, from Sunset and moved it to Boutique or personally to the Defendants, that if 

allowed to keep would be contrary to the fundamental principles of justice or equity and against 

good conscience.  

58. Defendants’ unjust enrichment and retention has caused Plaintiffs to suffer 

damages in excess of $15,000.00. 

59. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Declaratory Relief 

(Against Hirji and Brown) 

 

60. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

61. Defendants Hirji and Brown are the owners of Olivia’s Mexican Restaurant.  
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62. Defendants Hirji and Brown promised to transfer 25% of Olivia’s Mexican 

Restaurant to Barket for previously raised money.  

63. Defendants never transferred any ownership interests to Barket.  

64. Plaintiffs seek a declaration from this court that Barket has a 25% equitable and 

legal interest in Olivia’s Mexican Restaurant.  

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Conversion 

(Against Hirji, Brown and Boutique) 

 

65. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

66. Plaintiffs own a majority of shares in Sunset. 

67. Defendants methodically and intentionally took, stole, or otherwise deprived 

Plaintiffs and Sunset of all or most of the monetary assets raised by Barket which was held in 

Sunset, and transferred them to Boutique without Plaintiff’s permission.  

68. Plaintiffs and Sunset have been unable to exercise enjoyment of this property.  

69. As majority owner of Sunset, Plaintiff’s rights to enjoy said property have been 

derogated, defied, and excluded.  

70. Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

71. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages and pursuant to the Agreement.  

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Intentional Interference With Contractual Relationship 

(As Against Defendant Sharda) 

 

72. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  
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73. A valid contract existed between Barket and Defendants Hirji and Brown. 

74. Upon information and belief, Defendant Sharda knew that this contract existed as 

he was promised 25% of the Olivia’s Mexican Restaurant in the Agreement and had discussions 

with Barket regarding the contract.  

75. The acts of Defendant Sharda set forth above and throughout this Complaint were 

performed for an improper purpose, specifically to harm Plaintiff’s contractual relationship with 

Defendants Hirji and Brown.  

76. Defendant Sharda’s actions caused Defendants Hirji and Brown to breach the 

Agreement with Barket and to take steps to establish Boutique and steal assets from Sunset. 

77. Defendant’s conduct was performed through improper means, including tortuous 

acts, breaches of contract, and violations of Nevada Law and equity.  

78. Defendant acted with oppression, fraud and malice and as such the Plaintiffs are 

entitled to an award of punitive or exemplary damages to be proven at trial. 

79. As a result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount in 

excess of $15,000.00 and the damages are ongoing.  

80. Plaintiffs have been required to engage the services of attorneys in these 

proceedings as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches; therefore, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as special damages. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs prays for judgment against the Defendants as follows: 

1. For compensatory damages in a sum according to proof at trial; 

2. For special damages in a sum according to proof at trial; 

3. For attorney’s fees and costs of suit herein; 

4. For punitive damages; 

5. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and  
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6. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem appropriate.  

Dated this 11th day of August 2017 

      MCDONALD LAW OFFICES 

     

      By: /s/ Brandon B. McDonald________ 

      BRANDON B. MCDONALD, ESQ. 

      Nevada Bar No.: 011206 

      252451 W. Horizon Ridge Pkwy., #120 

Henderson, Nevada 89052 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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VERIFICATION 

 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 

    ) SS. 

COUNTY OF CLARK ) 

 

STEVEN BARKET, individually, and as the Sole Trustee of G Squared Trust which is 

the sole Manager of G65 Ventures LLC., being duly sworn, states that he is a plaintiff in this 

matter and represents the interest of himself and G65 Ventures LLC., in this matter, that he has 

read the foregoing Amended Complaint, and pursuant to NRS 53.045 declares under penalty of 

perjury, that the same is true and correct to the best of his knowledge, except as to the matters 

therein set forth upon information and belief, and as to those matters, he believes them to be true.  

DATED this 11th of August 2017. 

 

 

 

    __/s/ Steven Barket__________________________________ 

Steven Barket, individually and as Sole Trustee of G Squared 

Trust, sole Manager of G65 Ventures, LLC.  
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Exhibit 1 
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JA000036



JA000037



JA000038



JA000039



DOCUMENT “5” 

 

 

 

 

DOCUMENT “5” 
JA000040



Case Number: A-17-756274-C

Electronically Filed
9/5/2017 9:37 AM
Steven D. Grierson
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 MOT
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812
Attorney for Defendants, Shafik Hirji, 
Shafik Brown, and Furniture Boutique, LLC
 

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

STEVEN BARKET, an individual; and G65 Case No.: A-17-756274-C  
VENTURES, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Case No.: A-18-770121-C
Company, Dept. No.: IV

Plaintiffs, 

vs.

SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 
BROWN, an individual; and NAVEET 
SHARDA, an individual; FURNITURE 
BOUTIQUE, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company, and DOES I-X, inclusive 
and ROE CORPORATIONS XI through XX. 

Defendants.
_________________________________/

NAVEET SHARDA, an individual; 
TRATA, INC., a Nevada Corporation; 

Counterclaimants, 

vs.

STEVEN BARKET, an individual, DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS WITH
PREJUDICE AND FOR RELATED RELIEF

Counterdefendant.
_________________________________/
SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 
BROWN, an individual; and FURNITURE  HEARING REQUESTED
BOUTIQUE, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company;

Counter-Claimants, 
vs.

STEVEN BARKET, an individual, 

Counter-Defendant.
_________________________________/

Case Number: A-17-756274-C

Electronically Filed
7/29/2020 4:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MICHAEL AHDERS, an individual,

Plaintiff,

VS.

BOULEVARD FURNITURE, INC., a
Nevada coaporation; SHAFIK HIRJI,
an individual; and SHAFIK
BROWN, an individual.

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE
PURSUANT TO NRCP 41(e)(6) AND/OR FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS:
DEEM PLAINTIFF. STEVEN BARKET. A VEXATIOUS LITIGANT:

ISSUE A PERMANENT INJUNCTION TO REOUIRE
PLAINTIFF BARKET TO REMOVE ALL IVEBSITES

REGARDING THE DEFENDANTS AND OTHERS. AND T0 ENJOIN BARKET FROM
PoSTING ANT NHW WrEBS[TES AGAINST SUCH PERSoNS:

AND AWARD DEFENDANTS' ATTORNHY'S FEES AND COSTS

COMES NOW the Defendants, Boulevard Furniture, Inc.; Furniture Boutique, LLC, Shaflk Hirji;

and Shafik Brown by and through their counsel, Daniel Marks, Esq., and Teletha L. Zupan, Esq., of the

Law Office of Daniel Marks, hereby submits their motion to dismiss the Plaintiffs' complaint with

prejudice pursuant to NRCP 41 (e)(6) and/or for abuse of process; to deem Plaintiff, Steven Barket, a

vexatious litigant; for a permanent injunction to issue to require plaintiff barket to remove all websites

regarding the Defendants, their family, their friends, and/or their counsel and enjoin Barket from posting

any new websites against such persons; and award Defendants' attomey's fees and costs for having to

defend against Plaintiffs' frivolous actions. The grounds for the Defendants' Motion are set forth in  the

fo[]°WfnDBA=::°trhafnsdz°#y°±onft;ua[ny:2Aou2t:.°rft±es.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003
TELETHA ZUPAN, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 012660
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Defendants

2
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

A. Background

This Court should recall from the prior proceedings that Shafik Hirji (hereafter “Hirji”) is from

Tanzania, which is in East Africa. Hirji was thirteen years old when he moved to the United States in

1971. He struggled in school because English was his second language. He ultimately dropped out of

High School in New York at the beginning of his junior year. In 2002, Hirji moved to Nevada. (See

Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated March 2, 2018 attached as Exhibit “1”). 

Around September 2016, Hirji met Steven Barket (hereafter “Barket”) at the Mercedes dealer.

Barket purchased a sofa and other furniture from Furniture Fashions, which Hirji operated and his son,

Shafik Brown (hereafter “Brown”) owned. Hirji and Barket quickly became close friends. (See Affidavit

of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “1”). 

In October 2016, Barket approached Hirji to invest money with Furniture Fashions. Hirji trusted

Barket based on their friendship and Barket’s representations. Between November 7, 2016 and January

20, 2017 Barket coordinated with Hirji to make a series of four (4) “investments” with Furniture

Fashions, and other entities owned by Brown. Barket informed Hirji that each investment would need to

be structured as a loan from one of his businesses through his partner for tax purposes. (See Affidavit of

Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “1”).

The first investment/loan was made from Barket’s partner, Sharda, through Cancer Care for two

hundred thousand ($200,000.00) dollars on November 7, 2016. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as

Exhibit “1” and Cancer Care’s first COJ, secured promissory note and security agreement attached at

Exhibit “2”). The second investment/loan was made from Barket’s partner, Michael Ahders, for one

hundred thousand ($100,000.00) dollars on November 21, 2016. (See Notice of Entry of COJ for Ahders

with COJ, secured promissory note and security agreement attached at Exhibit “3”). The third

investment/loan was made from Cancer Care for one hundred thousand ($100,000.00) on December 20,

2016. (See Cancer Care’s second COJ, secured promissory note and security agreement attached at

Exhibit “4”). The fourth investment/loan was made from Barket’s partner, Sharda, through Trata for one

million ($1,000,000.00) dollar “investment”/loan on January 20, 2017. (See Trata’s first COJ, secured
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This Court knows as a matter of settled law, that past consideration is no consideration. See Smith v. Recrion Corp.,1

91 Nev. 666, 669, 541 P.2d 663, 665 (1975) and Smith v. Recrion Corp., 91 Nev. 666, 669, 541 P.2d 663, 665 (1975). 

4

promissory note and security agreement attached at Exhibit “5”). The related documents for all these

investments/loans were executed at Stan Johnson’s office, who was Barket’s attorney at the time. (See

Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibits “1”- “5”). 

Barket had Hirji and Brown execute a Memorandum of Understanding (hereafter “MOU”) dated

January 20, 2017, which provided for Barket to receive a 47.5% ownership interest in the new furniture

store in exchange for his $1 million investment. The agreement expressly states, “Barket provides the

necessary funding/lending for his 47 ½ percent ownership”. It also identifies Sharda as a potential

investor. (See Memorandum of Understanding attached as Exhibit “6” at p. 1 in the second, fourth and

fifth full paragraphs).

The MOU states that in exchange for the $1 million dollar investment, Barket would receive 15%

ownership of the Furniture Fashion locations 1, 2, and 3 or $150,000 in lieu of the ownership interest.

Further, it provided in return for previous money raised, Hirji and Brown would convey 50% of Olivia’s

Mexican Restaurant to Barket (25%) and potential investor Sharda (25%).  In addition, as additional1

consideration Barket was to be paid $60,000 for work and expenses from November 2016 to the opening

of Furniture Fashions 4 by April 2017. (See Exhibit “6” at p. 1 in the fourth, sixth, and seventh full

paragraph). 

 Between November 7, 2016 and March 4, 2017, Ahders’ and Sharda’s partner, Barket, demanded

and received a total of approximately four hundred forty five thousand ($445,000.00) dollars in cash and

checks. Barket claimed he would return the money within a few weeks, but he did not return any money.

Instead, he demanded more money from Hirji. Hirji refused. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at

Exhibit “1”; Checks to Barket attached at Exhibit “7”; Declaration of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit

“8”; and various cash withdrawals made to pay Barket attached as Exhibit “39”).

Barket got angry and threatened to harm Hirji physically and/or to harm Brown and Hirji’s family

financially, if they did not give him more money. Barket also threatened to do a website posting negative

things about Hirji and his family, if Hirji refused to give Barket more money. (See Affidavit of Shafik

Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”). 
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On or about March 5, 2017, Hirji contacted Dr. Navneet Sharda (hereafter “Sharda”) to inform

him that Barket demanded and received approximately three hundred seventy five thousand

($375,000.00) dollars and proceeded to demand more money that they did not have. At that time, Hirji

knew for sure that Barket had demanded and received at least $375,000, but was not certain of the total

amount that had been paid to Barket. Hirji informed Sharda that they did not have enough money to

open the store because of how much money Barket took.  (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at

Exhibit “1”).   

On March 5, 2017, Sharda informed Hirji of Barket’s misrepresentations. He advised Hirji that

Barket did not actually loan any money to them. Further, Barket was not an agent of Cancer Care or

Trata. He did not have an interest in either company and did not have the power to bind either company.

Sharda informed Hirji that Barket did not apply any of the money he received toward the outstanding

loans. Sharda informed Hirji that Cancer Care and Trata loaned Hirji and Brown the all of the money.

Hirji stopped communicating with Barket. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”; Trata

Transcript from Evidentiary Hearing Day 1 attached as Exhibit “9” at pp. 65:3-9; 67:3-5; and Trata

Transcript from Evidentiary Hearing Day 2 attached as Exhibit “10” at p. 6:18-20). 

Barket created fliers and post card mailers, which inferred Hirji was an untrustworthy, dishonest,

and a scam artist, who sets up fake business fronts, and commits bankruptcy fraud to escape his

creditors. Barket sent the post card mailers that portray Hirji in a false light to customers in the vicinity,

Hirji and Brown’s business associates, landlords, all of the tenants and employees surrounding each

business, including but not limited to the tenants and employees in the boulevard mall, neighboring

business owners, and employees of Furniture Fashions, Champagne Salon & Spa, Olivia’s Mexican

Restaurant & Bar, and Furniture Boutique. In addition, Barket sent the post card mailers to the neighbors

in the communities that Hirji and Brown lived in. (See post card mailer attached hereto as Exhibit “40”

and Declaration of SHafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit “41”).

Barket created various websites, including but not limited to, shafikhirji.com; shadyshafik.com;

yasminbrown.net; klastv.vegas; and furniturefashionslasvegas.net to smear the names of Hirji, his

family, his friends, and business associates. Barket even created a website regarding the Defendants’

counsel at danielmarksexamined.com. Barket portrayed Hirji, his family, their businesses, friends, and
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business associates in a negative light on his various websites making statements similar to those in the

postcard/mailers to harm the reputation of Hirji, his family, their business, and business associates

and/or to financially harm Hirji, Brown, their family, and their businesses.  (See website for

shafikhirji.com attached as Exhibit “42”; website for shadyshafik.com attached hereto as Exhibit “43”;

website for klastv.vegas attached hereto as Exhibit “44”; and danielmarksexamined.com attached hereto

as Exhibit “45”).    

In April 2017, Ahders contacted Hirji to discuss the smear websites that Barket had done on the

Defendants and their family. Hirji notified Ahders that his partner, Barket demanded and received

approximately $375,000.00 from him. Ahders said he would reach out to Barket to get him to take down

the smear website because it was bad for business. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”

p. 8 at ¶ 32 and Barket’s various websites attached hereto as Exhibits “42” through “44”). 

On March 18, 2017, the fifth investment/loan was made from Trata for an additional two

hundred thousand ($200,000). Sharda suspended the repayment obligations for all the loans until the

store opened, became profitable enough to make the payments, and they reached an agreement for a new

repayment schedule for the loans. The Trata loans were made for the purpose of opening the new

furniture store. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1” and Trata’s second COJ, secured

promissory note and option agreement attached as Exhibit “11”). From November 7, 2016 to March 18,

2017, there was a total of five investment/loans made to the Defendants. (See Exhibits “2-5” and “11”).

From January 5, 2017 up to December 2017, the Defendants continued to make monthly

payments of $4,000.00 directly to Ahders’ bank account. Ahders received approximately $44,000.00

from the Defendants. The Defendants did not receive a written notice of default from Mr. Ahders in

2017 or 2018. Mr. Ahders did not offer to amend the terms, extend the repayment terms, and/or to

reduce the principal amount due based on the $445,000 that his partner, Barket, demanded and received.

(See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1” p. 8 at ¶ 32; Exhibit “7”; Declaration of Shafik

Hirji attached at Exhibit “8”; Declaration of Michael Ahders attached to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Sanctions, and Exhibit “46”). Therefore, Ahders and his partner, Barket, received a combined total of

approximately $489,000.00 from the Defendants between November 2016 and December 2017 for the

initial $100,000 investment/loan from Ahders.
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On April 6, 2017, Barket obtained a Judgment against Sharda by way of an assignment of

Judgment in Case No. A-15-712697-C (hereafter referred to as the “Gordon Silver action”). (See

Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment filed April 6, 2017 attached as Exhibit “12”).  Barket was

represented by Michael Mazur (hereafter “Mazur”) and Sharda was represented by Bryan Naddafi

(hereafter “Naddafi”) in the Gordon Silver action.

On June 1, 2017, Barket commenced litigation against Hirji, Brown, Sharda, and Furniture

Boutique, LLC, in the Eighth Judicial Court, Case No. A-17-756274-C (hereafter referred to as the

“Barket action”). Barket was represented by Mr. McDonald and Barnabi in this action. 

In approximately July 2017, Barket began executing on the Gordon Silver Judgement against

Sharda. On July 29, 2017, Barket and Sharda entered into a confidential settlement agreement. (See

Confidential Settlement Agreement attached as Exhibit “13” and Declaration of Michael Mazur attached

as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:9-12). 

During their settlement negotiations, Barket presented the idea of having Sharda assign the notes

to another entity. (See Exhibit “9” at p. 38). The confidential settlement agreement was jointly prepared

by Naddafi and Mazur. (See Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13).

Sharda testified that assigning the five notes was part of the confidential settlement agreement (See

Exhibit “9” at p. 40). Barket also concocted an elaborate scheme to fabricate a default so he could

circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants.  

The settlement agreement resolved Barket’s claims against Sharda in the Gordon Silver action

and the Barket action. (See August 1, 2018 correspondence from Brandon McDonald to Bryan Naddafi

attached as Exhibit “15”). The express language that Mazur and Naddafi drafted, which Barket and

Sharda signed states that Defendant (Sharda) would assign all rights, title and interest in the five

promissory notes, together with their corresponding UCC1 agreements, COJ, and other documentation

with an estimated principal value of $1,500,000.00 to Plaintiff or his assigns. (See Exhibit “13” at p. 2 in

section II; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-

13; Plaintiff’s Opposition to Motion to Quash Order Allowing Examination of Judgment Debtor and

Writ of Execution filed in the Gordon Silver Action on February 12, 2020 attached as Exhibit “16” at pp.

2:19-26 and 12:23-27).

JA000106



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

8

Barket and his counsel, Barnabi and Mazur, have conceded numerous times in the Gordon Silver

action that Sharda was required to assign the five promissory notes to Barket. (See Exhibit “16” at pp.

2:19-26 and 12:23-27). Further, the agreement provided for the Plaintiff (Barket) to coordinate the

collection efforts of the Promissory Notes utilizing Mazur & Brooks for an aggressive post-judgment

attachment and execution efforts, which the Defendant (Sharda) would pay for. (See Exhibit “13” at p. 2

in section III; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p.

4:10-13; and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). 

On July 29, 2017, there were only five promissory notes in existence: one with Ahders, two with

Trata, and two with Cancer Care. (See Exhibits “2-5” and “11”). Mazur reviewed both of Trata’s COJs

and both of Cancer Care’s COJs. Accordingly, he determined that they could not be assigned or sold and

that each was grossly deficient to obtain a Judgment in the event of a Default pursuant to NRS 17.090

through NRS 17.110. (See Exhibits “2”, “4”, “5”, and “11”). In August 2017, Mazur drafted two new

Change in Terms Agreements (hereafter “CIT Agreements”) with new COJs to consolidate the loans for

Cancer Care and Trata, make the notes assignable, add new resources to impose liability against, add

interest and late fees for the periods that Sharda suspended payments, and accelerate the payments and

interest under the loans. (See Exhibit “9” at p. 20). The CIT Agreements required the Defendants to

make three initial payments of $25,000.00 on September 25, 2017; October 25, 2017; and November 25,

2017. (See Cancer Care CIT Agreement attached as Exhibit “17” at Trata CIT Agreement attached as

Exhibit “18”).  

During the interim period from August 15, 2017 to August 28, 2017, Sharda pressured Hirji to

execute the CIT Agreements for Cancer Care and Trata, which consolidated two loans from Trata and

two from Cancer Care and provided a repayment schedule for all four loans. Sharda frequently told Hirji

he was stressed out and under a lot of pressure from his family about these loans. Sharda said he was

having a lot of conflict with his family because of these loans. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as

Exhibit “1”). However, Sharda was really acting in accordance with the settlement agreement and at the

direction of Barket and Mazur. (See Exhibit “10” at p. 20:10-16). On August 29, 2017, Sharda sent Hirji

an email advising Hirji that “the attorney” directed him to send Hirji a Notice of Default and a proposed

CIT Agreement for Cancer Care. (See August 29, 2017 Email with attachments attached as Exhibit
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“19”).  

On September 1, 2017, Defendants executed the CIT Agreements at Naddafi’s office. Mr.

Nadaffi did not notify Hirji and Brown’s counsel of the CIT Agreements or advise Hirji and Brown to

consult with their counsel before executing such agreements, even though the loans were the subject of

this action. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated November 30, 2017 attached as Exhibit “20”).  

Defendants made the first payment to Sharda on September 25, 2017.  (See Affidavit of Shafik

Hirji attached as Exhibit “20”). On October 13, 2017, Barket directed Sharda to assign the CIT

Agreements for all four loans to Brooklyn Asset Management, LLC (hereafter “BAM”). Sharda did not

notify Hirji of the assignment at that time. (See Cancer Care and Trata Assignments attached as Exhibit

“21” and Exhibit “10” at p. 132:9-24). 

When Hirji contacted Sharda to make the second payment on October 25, 2017, Sharda refused

to accept the payment. He advised Hirji that the loans were assigned to a hedge fund in New York. Hirji

asked Sharda for the contact information for the company that the loans were assigned to. Sharda told

Hirji that he would receive correspondence regarding the assignments shortly thereafter. The payments

were to be sent to New York and then sent back to Las Vegas. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as

Exhibit “20” and Exhibit “9” at p. 32:3-8).  

On or about October 28, 2017, Hirji and Brown received letters from BAM and Trata dated

October 17, 2017, advising them that the loans from Trata and Cancer were assigned BAM. Mazur

drafted and sent out the notices of assignment. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20”;

October 17, 2017 Correspondence attached as Exhibit “22”; and Exhibit “9” at p. 33:14-19). 

 Hirji called BAM multiple times to get account numbers for the Cancer Care and Trata payments

and to confirm the mailing address for the payments. On October 30, 2017, a representative named Kim

told him she had not heard of BAM, did not have any account numbers, and told him not to send

payments to the address listed on the correspondence because they would not accept payments at that

address. She said she would get back to Mr. Hirji with the requested information, but failed to do so.

(See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20” and October 30, 2017 correspondence attached as

Exhibit “23”).

/ / / /
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  Shortly thereafter, Kay Sorrels called Mr. Hirji and identified herself as an agent of BAM. She

said she would stop by the furniture store at 3500 S. Maryland Pkwy., Ste 171 on November 1, 2017 to

pickup the payments, but did not go to the furniture store. On November 2, 2017, Mr. Hirji mailed the

payments to BAM’s address on the correspondence in New York. Mr. Hirji called Ms. Sorrels to see

why she did not go to the store to pick up the payments on November 1, 2017. Ms. Sorrels advised Mr.

Hirji that the matter had been assigned to legal counsel and told Mr. Hirji he could contact Mazur. (See

November 2, 2017 correspondence attached as Exhibit “24”).  Mr. Hirji contacted Mazur’s office and

was informed that the COJs had been filed. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20”).  

On November 1, 2017, Mazur filed the COJ on behalf of Cancer Care and BAM, assignee, in

Case No. A-17-763985-C (hereafter “Cancer Care action”) in Department XVI before Judge Williams.

That Confession of Judgment was derived from two of the “investments”/loans that Barket orchestrated,

which are in issue in this action. (See Exhibits “2”, “4”, and “17”). Judge Williams set aside the

Confession of Judgment finding that it was void because Cancer Care attempted to circumvent the issues

and subject matter pertaining to the investments/loans in dispute in the Barket action, case A-17-

756274-C to deprive the Defendants of an adjudication of their rights and potential liabilities. (See

Cancer Care’s Notice of Entry of Order attached at Exhibit “25”).  

On November 1, 2017, Mazur filed the COJ on behalf of Trata, Inc. (hereafter “Trata action”),

and BAM, assignee, in Case No. A-17-763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish, for two

additional “investments”/ loans that were orchestrated by Barket and are in issue in this action. Trata

executed and seized approximately $200,000.00 of the Defendants’ money and property. After an

extensive evidentiary hearing, which confirmed the foregoing facts, Trata’s Confessions of Judgment

was vacated on the grounds of fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party

pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(3) because Nadaffi improperly communicated about the subject of the

representation with a person he knew to be represented by another lawyer in the matter. More

specifically, he knew that these loans are at issue, Hirji and Brown were represented by Mr. Marks, who

was not present and did not consent. (See Exhibits “5”, “11, “18”, and Trata’s Notice of Entry of Order

attached as Exhibit “26”).

/ / / /
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Even though neither COJ had been reduced to Judgment by the Clerk of the Court, on or about

November 22, 2017 and November 27, 2017, Trata and Cancer Care executed on the Defendants’ bank

accounts and issued writs of garnishments directed to the various business entities and Defendants. In

the morning on December 22, 2017, the Laughlin Constable, Barket, and Mazur appeared at Mr. Hirji’s

residence and executed on a Writ of Execution and seize various items, including vehicles, electronics,

and various other personal property. Barket videotaped the execution. Mr. Barket laughed as he told

Hirji that he owns BAM. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated December 26, 2017 attached as Exhibit

“27” and photos taken during December 22, 2017 execution with publication from Steve Barket on his

website shafikhirji.com attached as Exhibit “28”).  

During the extensive four day evidentiary hearing in the Trata action, the Defendants learned that

Mazur represented Barket in the Gordon Silver action where they obtained the secret settlement. Mazur

also represented Sharda, Cancer Care, Trata, and BAM, in connection with the COJs that were filed in

the Cancer Care and Trata action. (See Exhibit “9” at pp. 3:24-25, and 4:1-4; and Exhibit “10” at p.

115:6-15). Trata did not file the Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment until after the first day of

the evidentiary hearing concluded. (See Trata’s Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment attached

as Exhibit “29”). Hirji also learned that BAM was a domestic Nevada limited liability company and that

the November payments to BAM were mailed back to Las Vegas to Mazur’s office for deposit. (See

Certified Records from Nevada Secretary of State for Brooklyn Asset Management, LLC attached as

Exhibit “30” and Account Transaction Details with Checks attached as Exhibit “31”).  In light of the fact

that the assignment required payments to be made to New York only to be mailed back to Nevada for

deposit, the assignment was clearly a sham that was designed to cause a default. 

On February 23, 2018, Mazur filed the COJ on behalf of Ahders in A-18-770121-C, in

accordance with the terms of the confidential settlement agreement, which required Plaintiff (Barket) to

coordinate the collection efforts for the five Promissory Notes utilizing Mazur & Brooks for an

aggressive post-judgment attachment and execution efforts, which Defendant (Sharda) would pay for.

Ahders’ COJ did not provide a specific sum that is due or account for the principal and interest

installment payments that were made from January 5, 2017 up to December 2017. (See Exhibit “3”;

Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Exhibit “13” at p. 2 in sections II and III ; Declaration of Michael Mazur
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attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13; and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27).

On April 25, 2019, the Court read and considered the papers, pleadings, and briefs on file, as

well as the ongoing litigation in this action with Barket regarding the series of investments and loans

referenced extensively in the pleadings in this case and issued a Minute Order resolving the dispute. This

Court found that notice was required pursuant to paragraph 4 of the Confession of Judgment, which

states: If Defendant fails to adhere to the terms of the Note, and any amendments or extensions, Plaintiff

shall provide written notice of said default to the Defendants. The Defendant shall have five (5) calendar

days to cure said default. It [sic] the default is not cured in full the Plaintiff may file and record this

Confession of Judgment and take all steps to protect the right of the Plaintiff hereunder. Further, the

court found that Plaintiff did not provide the requisite notice pursuant to the Confession of Judgment,

and Plaintiff did not provide an opportunity for Defendants to cure any alleged default. (See Ahders’

Notice of Entry of Order attached as Exhibit “32”).

Based upon those findings, the court ordered, as a matter of law, without addressing the other

grounds raised by the Defendants, that the Confession of Judgment that was the basis of that matter was

void under NRCP 60(b) and set it aside. The Court proceeded to grant the Defendants’ Motion to Vacate

the Confession of Judgment; pursuant to NRS 17.090 through NRS 17.110; to Take Judicial Notice of

Related Actions; Alternative Motion for Stay of Execution pursuant to NRCP 62; and/or the Motion to

Consolidate with Case No. A-17-756274-C pursuant to NRCP 42. Pursuant to that order, the Ahders

action was consolidated with the Barket action. (See Exhibit “32”).

From April 25, 2019 through the present date, Ahders failed to take any action to pursue his

claims, which were consolidated with the Barket action. He failed to file a complaint to pursue his

claims based on the underlying promissory note. From August 5, 2019 to January 8, 2020, Barket and

Defendants, were in settlement negotiations to resolve Barket and Ahders’ claims.  The discussions

between their counsel related to the terms of the settlement only. (See Declaration of Teletha Zupan,

Esq., attached as Exhibit “33”). 

During the settlement negotiations, Barnabi sent correspondence to Defendants dated November

25, 2019, regarding the void COJ. The correspondence was titled Notice of Default and Demand to

Immediately Cure. Defendants’ counsel was confused by the notice as it was sent during settlement
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negotiations and related to a COJ that had already been set aside by this Court. Defendants’ counsel

contacted Barnabi regarding the notice and to inquire about the status of the settlement, why the

negotiations broke down, and whether it was because of Barket or Ahders. Barnabi said he would get

back to her, but never did. (See Declaration of Teletha Zupan, Esq., attached as Exhibit “33” and

November 25, 2019 Correspondence attached as Exhibit “34”).

On December 13, 2019, Ahders re-filed the same Confession of Judgment that this Court held as

a matter of law to be void and set aside in a new action in Case No.: A-19-806944-C before Judge Cory

in Department I, instead of filing a complaint in this action. On January 13, 2020, Defendants were

served with Ahders’ COJ. On January 14, Defendants were served with writs of execution. On January

14, 2020, Defendants filed an emergency motion to vacate COJ pursuant to NRCP 60(b); to quash any

and all writs of execution and/or garnishment pursuant to NRCP 60(b) because the judgment was

obtained by fraud; to stay all collection activity, including writs of execution; for attorney’s fees and

costs; and to dismiss this action with prejudice.  At the hearing on January 29, 2020, Judge Cory granted

Defendants’ emergency motion to vacate the COJ and dismiss the action with prejudice. (See Ahders’

confession of judgment attached as Exhibit “35” and Ahders’ Notice of Entry of Order attached as

Exhibit “36”). 

On January 20, 2020, Barket filed a Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement and Motion to

Amend Prior Judgment in the Gordon Silver action to have Judge Williams dismiss the claims asserted

in this action between Barket, Sharda, and Trata and requested for Judge Williams to Order Sharda to

assign the original $1,500,000 in promissory notes and COJs to Barket. Sharda opposed the motion

because he already paid Barket an additional $114,764.24 for the judgment and interest pursuant and

assigned over two million dollars in notes from Cancer Care and Trata to Barket. The matter is currently

pending an evidentiary hearing before Judge Williams in Department XVI. (See Plaintiff’s Motion to

Enforce the Settlement Agreement and Motion to Amend Prior Judgment attached as Exhibit “37” at pp.

1:19-23, 2:5-6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-8; Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to

Enforce the Settlement Agreement and Motion to Amend Prior Judgment attached as Exhibit “38” at pp.

3:1-8, 4:26-28).   

/ / / /
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Barket was not acting in good faith during the prolonged settlement negotiations with Defendants

from August 5, 2019 to January 8, 2020 because he could not make the necessary warranties and

representations regarding the original promissory notes, COJs, and related documents for Trata, Cancer

Care, and Ahders because the original notes were not assigned to him. Barket likely filed his motion

with Judge Williams to get an order for Sharda to assign the original promissory notes, COJs, and related

documents for Trata and Cancer Care so he could file four (4) new actions in other departments based on

the original notes to circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT:

A. This Court Should Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with Prejudice Pursuant to NRCP
41(e) And/or for Abuse of Process. 

1. This Court Should Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Actions with Prejudice for Filing to
Exercise Reasonable Diligence to Prosecute Their Action pursuant to NRCP
41(e). 

This Court has inherent authority to dismiss an action for want of prosecution where a plaintiff

fails to bring the action to trial within two years. This inherent authority is derived from the court’s day-

to-day function or regular management of its internal affairs to prevent delays and control their

calendars. The court is not required to provide any justification for resorting to its inherent authority. See 

Hunter v. Gang, 132 Nev. 249, 257-258, 377 P.3d 448, 454 (2016), City of Sparks v. Sparks Mun. Court,

129 Nev. 348, 363, 302 P.3d 1118, 1129 (2013), and Volpert v. Papagna, 85 Nev. 437, 439-440, 456

P.2d 848, 849 (1969). The court can consider any facts bearing on the question of diligence and good

faith in ruling on a motion to dismiss for want of diligence in prosecution. See Northern Illinois Corp. v.

Miller, 78 Nev. 213, 216, 370 P. 2d 955, 956 (1962). NRCP 41(e). NRCP 41(e): states in part:  

    (e) Dismissal for Want of Prosecution.

             (1) Procedure.  When the time periods in this rule have expired:

                   (A) any party may move to dismiss an action for lack of prosecution; or

                   (B) the court may, on its own, issue an order to show cause why an
action should not be dismissed for lack of prosecution. After
briefing, the court may hold a hearing or take the matter under
submission, as provided by local rules on motion practice.

             (2) Dismissing an Action Before Trial.
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                   (A) The court may dismiss an action for want of prosecution if a
plaintiff fails to bring the action to trial within 2 years after the
action was filed.

An action shall be tried on the merits when a plaintiff exercises reasonable diligence in the

prosecution of his action. Hassett v. St. Mary’s Hospital Ass’n, 86 Nev. 900, 903, 478 P.2d 154, 156

(1970). The onus is on the plaintiff to exercise reasonable diligence in prosecuting an action after it is

commenced to avoid the two year discretionary power of dismissal under NRCP 41(e). Valente v. First

Western Sav. And Loan Ass’n, 90 Nev. 377, 379, 528 P.2d 699, 700 (1974). A plaintiff will not be

afforded any relief by blaming their freely selected lawyer-agent for a lack of diligence because he is

bound by the acts of his lawyer-agent and presumed to have notice of all facts charged upon the attorney. 

See Moore v. Cherry, 90 Nev. 390, 395, 528 P.2d 1018, 1022 (1974); Custom Catering, Inc. v. Local

Union No. 226, Custom Catering, Inc. v. Local Union No. 226, Culinary & Hotel Serv. Workers Union,

91 Nev. 334, 335, 536 P.2d 488, 489 (1975); and Monroe, Ltd. v. Cent. Tel. Co., S. Nevada Div., 91

Nev. 450, 456, 538 P.2d 152, 156 (1975).

In the last three years, Plaintiffs failed to exercise reasonable diligence in prosecuting this action.

Instead, Barket concocted a series of schemes with various counsel, which were designed to circumvent

and delay this action. Therefore, this Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ action with prejudice pursuant to

NRCP 41(e) because Plaintiffs failed to exercise reasonable diligence in prosecuting this action. 

After the defendant makes a prima facie showing of unreasonable delay, the plaintiff must show

circumstances excusing the delay. Monroe, Ltd.. v. Central Tel. Co., Southern Nevada Division, 91 Nev.

450, 456, 538 P.2d 152, 155 (1975). The defendant is not required show prejudice from the delay

because prejudice is presumed. Thran v. First Judicial Dist. Court in and for Ormsby County, 79 Nev.

176, 182, 380 P. 2d 297, 300 (1963).

Dismissal with prejudice is appropriate in extreme cases where the delay is not justified by the

circumstances of the case. The court should consider the following factors when contemplating whether

to dismiss an action with prejudice: (1) the underlying conduct of the parties, (2) whether the plaintiff

offers adequate excuse for the delay; (3) whether the plaintiff’s case lacks merit; (4) whether any

subsequent action following dismissal would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. See

Hunter v. Gang, 132 Nev. at 260, 377 P.3d at 456.  The court should consider any other relevant factor 
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in making its determination, such as the length of reasonableness of the delay.  Id. at 261. 

 (i) Plaintiffs Failed to Exercise Reasonable Diligence to Prosecute Their
Action in the Last Three Years. 

In the last three years, Plaintiffs failed to exercise reasonable diligence in prosecuting this action.

Instead, Barket embarked on a series of schemes with various counsel, which were designed to

circumvent and delay this action. On June 1, 2017, Barket commenced litigation against Hirji, Brown,

Sharda, and Furniture Boutique, LLC, in this action. (See Complaint).

A month later, in July 2017, Barket began executing on a Judgement he purchased against Sharda

in the Gordon Silver action to force him into a settlement. On July 29, 2017, Barket and Sharda entered

into a confidential settlement agreement on July 29, 2017. (See Exhibit “13” and Declaration of Michael

Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:9-12). 

Pursuant to that agreement, Sharda was required to assign all rights, title and interest in the five

promissory notes in issue in this action, together with their corresponding UCC1 agreements, COJ, and

other documentation with an estimated principal value of $1,500,000.00 to Plaintiff (Barket) or his

assigns. Barket and his counsel, Barnabi and Mazur, have conceded numerous times in the Gordon

Silver action that Sharda was required to assign five promissory notes to Barket. (See  Exhibit “9” at pp.

38 and 40, and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). On July 29, 2017, there was a total of five

promissory notes in existence: one with Ahders, two with Trata, and two with Cancer Care. (See

Exhibits “2-5” and “11”). 

The settlement provided that Barket would coordinate the collection efforts of the Promissory

Notes utilizing Mazur & Brooks for an aggressive post-judgment attachment and execution efforts,

which Sharda would pay for. (See Exhibit “13” at p. 2 in section III; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18;

Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13; and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26

and 12:23-27). Mazur was Barket’s counsel in the Gordon Silver action. 

However, Barket concocted another elaborate scheme to use Sharda to sweeten the pot and

increase the total value of the five promissory notes three fold from $1,600,000 to $4,795,194.49, which

Barket would later use to fabricate a default to circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants.

(See Exhibits “2” - “5”, “11”, “17” and “18”). From August 15, 2017 to at least April 17, 2018, Sharda
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acted in accordance with the settlement agreement and at the direction of Barket and Mazur. In

accordance with their directives, Sharda pressured Hirji into executing the CIT Agreements that Mazur

drafted. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “1”; Exhibit “9” at p. 20; Exhibit “10” at p.

20:10-16; Exhibit “17”; Exhibit “18”; Exhibit “19”; and Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated November 30,

2017 attached as Exhibit “20”).  

Defendants made the first payment to Sharda under the CIT Agreements on September 25, 2017. 

(See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20”). On October 13, 2017, Barket directed Sharda to

assign both CIT Agreements and related documents to BAM. Sharda did not notify Hirji of the

assignment at that time. (See Exhibit “21” and Exhibit “10” at p. 132:9-24). On October 25, 2017, Hirji

contacted Sharda to make the second payment, but he refused to accept. In accordance with Barket’s

scheme to fabricate a default, the payments were to be sent to New York and then back to Mazur in Las

Vegas. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20” and Exhibit “9” at p. 32:3-8).

On or about October 28, 2017, three days after the second payment was due, Hirji and Brown

received letters, which Mazur drafted and sent out on behalf of BAM and Trata dated October 17, 2017

to notify them that the loans from Trata and Cancer were assigned BAM.  (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji

attached as Exhibit “20”; Exhibit “22”; and Exhibit “9” at p. 33:14-19). Despite Hirji’s multiple attempts

to contact BAM to get account numbers for the Cancer Care and Trata payments and to confirm the

mailing address for the payments, he was not able to obtain the requested information. On October 30,

2017, a representative told Hirji not to send payments to the address listed on the correspondence

because they would not accept payments at that address. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as

Exhibit “20” and Exhibit “23”). 

Shortly thereafter, Kay Sorrels contacted Hirji and identified herself as an agent of BAM. She

told him she would stop by the furniture store at 3500 S. Maryland Pkwy., Ste 171 on November 1, 2017

to pickup the payments, but did not. On November 2, 2017, Mr. Hirji mailed the payments to BAM’s

address on the correspondence in New York and called Ms. Sorrels to see why she did not go to the store

to pick up the payments on November 1, 2017. Ms. Sorrels informed him that the matter had been

assigned to legal counsel and told him he could contact Mazur. (See Exhibit “24”).  Mr. Hirji contacted

Mazur’s office and was informed that the COJs had been filed. Mr. Hirji told Brown to stop payment on
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the checks. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “20”).

In furtherance of Barket’s scheme, Mazur filed the COJ on behalf of Cancer Care and BAM, an

undisclosed assignee, in Case No. A-17-763985-C (hereafter “Cancer Care action”) in Department XVI

before Judge Williams on November 1, 2017. (See Exhibit “17”). Cancer Care never filed an

Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment. On April 5, 2018, Judge Williams set aside the

Confession of Judgment finding that it was void because Cancer Care attempted to circumvent the issues

and subject matter pertaining to the investments/loans in dispute in this to deprive the Defendants of an

adjudication of their rights and potential liabilities. (See Exhibit “25”).  

In furtherance of Barket’s scheme, Mazur filed the second COJ on behalf of Trata, Inc. (hereafter

“Trata action”), and BAM, assignee, in Case No. A-17-763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish

on November 1, 2017. Trata executed and seized approximately $200,000.00 of the Defendants’ money

and property. In the morning on December 22, 2017, the Laughlin Constable, Barket, and Mazur

appeared at Mr. Hirji’s residence and executed on a Writ of Execution and seized various items,

including vehicles, electronics, and various other personal property. Barket videotaped the execution and

laughed as he told Hirji he owns BAM. (See Exhibit “18”; Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated December 26,

2017 attached as Exhibit “27”; and Exhibit “28”). From April 17, 2018 through May 23, 2019,

Defendants’ attempted to recover as much of their personal property and money as they could form

Barket, Sharda, and/or BAM, which were wrongfully seized. A judgment was issued for the value of the

remaining items that Defendants were not able to recover.    

Trata did not file the Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment until after the first day of the

evidentiary hearing concluded. (See Exhibit “29”). On April 17, 2018, after an extensive evidentiary

hearing, Trata’s COJ was vacated on the grounds of fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an

adverse party pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(3) because Nadaffi improperly communicated about the subject

of the representation with a person he knew to be represented by another lawyer in connection with the

matter. More specifically, Nadaffi knew these loans were are at issue in this matter, that Hirji and Brown

were represented by Mr. Marks, who was not present, aware, and did not consent to such action. (See

Exhibits “5”, “11, “18”, and “26”).

/ / / /
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 The extensive four day evidentiary hearing in the Trata action confirmed the assignment was

clearly a sham as it was designed to cause a default because it required payments to be made to New

York only to be mailed back to Nevada for deposit. Further, it confirmed that Mazur represented Barket

in the Gordon Silver action and Sharda, Cancer Care, Trata, and BAM, in connection with the COJs that

were filed in the Cancer Care and Trata action. (See Exhibit “9” at pp. 3:24-25, and 4:1-4; and Exhibit

“10” at p. 115:6-15). In addition, BAM was a domestic Nevada limited liability company and the

November payments to BAM were mailed back to Las Vegas to Mazur’s office for deposit. (See Exhibit

“30” and Exhibit “31”).  

 On February 23, 2018, in accordance with the confidential settlement agreement, Mazur filed the

COJ on behalf of Ahders in A-18-770121-C. (See Exhibit “3”; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Exhibit “13”

at p. 2 in sections II and III ; Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13; and

Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). On April 25, 2019, the Court read and considered the papers,

pleadings, and briefs on file, and ordered, as a matter of law that the Confession of Judgment was void

under NRCP 60(b) and set it aside. The Court granted the Defendants’ Motion to Vacate the Confession

of Judgment; pursuant to NRS 17.090 through NRS 17.110; to Take Judicial Notice of Related Actions;

Alternative Motion for Stay of Execution pursuant to NRCP 62; and/or the Motion to Consolidate with

Case No. A-17-756274-C pursuant to NRCP 42. Pursuant to that order, the Ahders action was

consolidated with the Barket action. (See Exhibit “32”).

On October 10, 2018, Barket filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement and for an Award

of Attorney’s fees and cost against Sharda in this action, which Sharda opposed. The matter was set for

an evidentiary hearing, but continued several times to September 24, 2019. On September 19, 2019,

Barket withdrew his Motion to Enforce.  

Barket and/or Ahders delayed this action for over three years with their various attempts to

circumvent this litigation. Neither has actively pursued this litigation. From April 25, 2019 through the

present date, Ahders has taken no action to pursue his claims within this consolidated action. Neither has

filed a complaint based on Ahders’ underlying promissory note. 

From August 5, 2019 to January 8, 2020, Plaintiffs and Defendants, were in settlement

negotiations to resolve Barket and Ahders’ claims. (See Declaration of Teletha Zupan, Esq., attached as
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Exhibit “33”). Barket and Ahders re-filed the same COJ that this Court held as a matter of law to be void

and set aside in a new action in Case No. A-19-806944-C before Judge Cory in Department I. At the

hearing on January 29, 2020, Judge Cory vacated the COJ with prejudice. Later that day, Plaintiffs filed

a Motion for Entry of COJ in this action. (See Exhibit “35” and Exhibit “36”).

On January 20, 2020, Barket filed another Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement and

Motion to Amend Prior Judgment in the Gordon Silver action to have Judge Williams dismiss the

claims asserted in this action between Barket, Sharda, and Trata and requested for Judge Williams to

Order Sharda to assign the original $1,500,000 in promissory notes and COJs to Barket. Sharda opposed

the motion because he has already paid Barket an additional $114,764.24 for the judgment and interest

pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement and assigned over two million dollars in notes from

Cancer Care and Trata to Barket. The matter is currently pending an evidentiary hearing before Judge

Williams in Department XVI, which has been continued to March 29, 2021. (See Exhibit “37” at pp.

1:19-23, 2:5-6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-8; and Exhibit “38” at pp. 3:1-8, 4:26-28). 

Barket’s motion confirms that the prolonged settlement negotiations was merely another delay

tactic to buy Barket time to come up with another scheme to circumvent this litigation. Barket’s motion

in the Gordon Silver action confirms that he could not make the necessary warranties and

representations relating to the original promissory notes, COJs, and related documents for Trata, Cancer

Care, and Ahders to enter into a settlement because the original notes were not assigned to him. As such,

he was not acting in good faith during the prolonged settlement negotiations with Defendants from

August 5, 2019 to January 8, 2020. Further, Barket filed his motion with Judge Williams to get an order

for Sharda to assign the original promissory notes, COJs, and related documents for Trata and Cancer

Care. Based on Barket’s past practices and prior schemes, it is clear that he intends to initiate four (4)

new actions in other departments based on the original notes to circumvent this litigation and execute on

the Defendants. (See Exhibit “37” at pp. 1:19-23, 2:5-6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-

8; and Exhibit “38” at pp. 3:1-8, 4:26-28). Therefore, Plaintiffs’ failed to exercise reasonable diligence

to prosecute this action over the last three years and instead embarked on various schemes, which were

designed to circumvent this action to wrongfully execute on the Defendants.      

/ / / /
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(ii) Plaintiffs Cannot Provide an Adequate Excuse for Their Delay.

Because the law favors trial on the merits, dismissal with prejudice may not be warranted where

such delay is justified by the circumstances of the case. Home Sav. Ass'n v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 109

Nev. 558, 563, 854 P.2d 851, 854 (1993). When no adequate excuse is offered for a lengthy delay, injury

to the defendant is presumed, and the court may infer that the case lacks merit. See Northern Ill. Corp. v.

Miller, 78 Nev. at 217, 370 P.2d at 956-957 (1962). 

Plaintiffs cannot provide an adequate excuse for their three year delay. Plaintiffs will not be able

to provide an adequate excuse that justifies their failure to have Sharda assign the five promissory notes

on July 29, 2017, or shortly thereafter, so Barket could pursue it in this action. (See Exhibit “13” and

Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:9-12).  Ahders will not be able to provide

an adequate excuse for failing to file a complaint regarding his claim(s), since this Court consolidated

the actions more than a year ago. (See Exhibit “32”). More importantly, Plaintiffs will not be able to

justify their various schemes that have delayed this action for more than three years and resulted in the

filing of four separate, but related actions (Trata, A-17-763995-C; Cancer Care, A-17-763985-C;

Ahders, A-18-770121-C; and Ahders, A-19-806944-C) that were designed to circumvent this action.

(See Exhibits “3”, “17”, “18”, and “35”). The pending motion before Judge Williams in the Gordon

Silver action is clearly Plaintiffs’ fifth attempt to circumvent this action. (See Exhibit “37” and “38”).

Therefore, this Court should infer that Plaintiffs’ case lacks merit because they will not be able to

provide an adequate excuse for their delay. 

(iii) Plaintiffs’ Claims Lacks Merit 

Plaintiffs’ claims are based on the MOU. Under the MOU, Barket was required to invest $1

million dollars. (See Exhibit “6” at p. 1 in the second, fourth and fifth full paragraphs). Barket materially

breached the agreement by failing to invest any money with the Defendants. Sharda confirmed in the

evidentiary hearing in the Trata action, that Barket did not invest any money with the Defendants. (See

Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”; Exhibit “9” at pp. 65:3-9 and 67:3-5; Exhibit “10” at p.

6:18-20; and Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “20”). Ahders declaration, which was filed in

support of his Opposition to Motion to Vacate the Confession of Judgment, also confirms that Barket did

not contribute any money to the investment/loan that he made to the Defendants. (See Declaration of
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Michael Ahders attached hereto as Exhibit “46”). Therefore, Plaintiffs have attempted to circumvent this

litigation by filing five separate actions, which includes but is not limited to the motion that is currently

pending before Judge Williams because Plaintiffs’ claims lack merit.   

To the extent that Plaintiffs may attempt to assert claims based on Ahders’ underlying

promissory note, such claims also lack merit. Barket and Ahders held Barket out as Ahders’ partner, who

was acting within the scope of their partnership, with apparent authority to bind Ahders when Barket

negotiated the terms of the investment/loan, when Barket introduced Ahders to Hirji and Brown, at the

time the instruments were negotiated, when Barket demanded and received  $445,000.00 from

Defendants, and after Hirji informed Ahders that his partner, Barket, demanded and received

approximately $375,000. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”; Exhibit “7”; Declaration

of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “8”; Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “20”; and Exhibit

“39”).

Apparent authority arises when a principal holds his agent out as possessing certain authority or

permits him to exercise or to represent himself as possessing such authority under circumstances that

would estop the principal from denying its existence. Ellis v. Nelson, 68 Nev. 410, 233 P.2d 1072

(1951). Ahders placed Barket in a position of authority from the beginning of their business dealings

when the investment/loan was negotiated, to the time that Barket demanded and received $445,000.00

form Defendants, and after that time when Ahders said he would talk Barket about removing the

websites because it is bad for business. Merchant's Bank v. State Bank, 77 U.S. (10 Wall.) 604, 644, 19

L.Ed. 1008 (1870); Dougherty v. Wells, Fargo & Co., 7 Nev. 368 (1872). A principal is bound by acts of

its agent while acting in the course of his employment. Prell Hotel Corp. v. Antonacci, 86 Nev. 390, 392,

469 P.2d 399, 400 (1970), and a principal is liable for those acts within the scope of the agent's authority.

See Nevada Nat. Bank v. Gold Star Meat Co., 89 Nev. 427, 429–30, 514 P.2d 651, 653 (1973); The

Yellow Jacket Silver Mining Company v. Stevenson, 5 Nev. 224 (1869); Ellis v. The Central Pacific

Railroad Company of California, 5 Nev. 255, 256 (1869); *430 Lonkey v. Succor M & M Co., 10 Nev.

17, 19 (1874); Wright v. Carson Water Co., 23 Nev. 39, 42, 42 P. 196, 197 (1895). 

/ / / /
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There was no default because no money was due as the underlying promissory note was fully

satisfied. Ahders and his partner, Barket, received a total of approximately $489,000.00 from the

Defendants between November 2016 and the present date for a $100,000 investment/loan. This amount

includes the $445,000.00 that Barket demanded and received plus the approximate $44,000.00 that

Ahders received from January 5, 2017 up to December 2017. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at

Exhibit “1”;  Exhibit “7”; Declaration of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “8”; Affidavit of Shafik Hirji

attached at Exhibit “20”; the Declaration of Michael Ahders attached to as Exhibit “46”). Therefore, any

potential claims Plaintiffs may attempt to assert based on Ahders’ underlying promissory note lacks

merit because it has already been fully satisfied. 

(iv) Whether Any Subsequent Action Following Dismissal Would Be
Barred by the Applicable Statute of Limitations. 

That statute of limitation for a written contract is six years. See NRS 11.190(1)(b). The Plaintiffs’

claims are all contractual in nature. Their claims will not be barred by the statute of limitation until 2022

and 2023. Based on Plaintiffs’ past practices and schemes, it is clear that they will continue to initiate

new frivolous actions unless, this matter is dismissed with prejudice. Therefore, this Court should

dismiss this action with prejudice. 

2. This Court Should Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Actions with Prejudice for Abuse of
Process. 

A party commits an abuse of process when he misuses regularly issued process for an ulterior

purpose. The elements to establish an abuse or process are: (1) an ulterior purpose and (2) a willful act in

the use of process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceedings. 

(i) Plaintiff Has an Ulterior Purpose to Circumvent this Litigation to
Deprive the Defendants of a Trial on the Merits. 

Shortly after Barket initiated this action, he bought a judgment against Sharda in the Gordon

Silver action, to use it to force Sharda into a secret settlement that would allow him to control Sharda

and manipulate the Defendants. On July 29, 2017, Barket and Sharda entered into a confidential

settlement agreement. (See Exhibit “13” and Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at

p. 4:9-12). 
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Sharda was required to assign the five promissory notes to Barket. (See  Exhibit “9” at pp. 38 and

40, and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). Barket concocted an elaborate scheme to use Sharda

to increase the total value of four of the five promissory notes three fold from $1,600,000 to

$4,795,194.49, and to fabricate a default to circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants.

(See Exhibits “2” - “5”, “11”, “17” and “18”). Sharda acted in accordance with Barket and Mazur’s

directives and pressured Hirji into executing the CIT Agreements that Mazur drafted. (See Affidavit of

Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “1”; Exhibit “9” at p. 20; Exhibit “10” at p. 20:10-16; Exhibit “17”;

Exhibit “18”; Exhibit “19”; and Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated November 30, 2017 attached as Exhibit

“20”). Further, Sharda assigned the CIT Agreements to Barket and refused to accept the second payment

from Hirji to create a default. 

In furtherance of Barket’s scheme, on November 1, 2017, the COJ in the Cancer Care action,

Case No. A-17-763985-C in Department XVI before Judge Williams to deprive the Defendants of an

adjudication of their rights and potential liabilities. (See Exhibit “25”). The same day, the second COJ

was filed in the Trata action, in Case No. A-17-763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish. (See

Exhibit “18”). Trata executed and seized approximately $200,000.00 of the Defendants’ money and

property. In the morning on December 22, 2017, the Laughlin Constable, Barket, and Mazur appeared at

Mr. Hirji’s residence and executed on a Writ of Execution and seized various items, including vehicles,

electronics, and various other personal property. Barket videotaped the execution and Barket laughed as

he told Hirji he owns BAM. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated December 26, 2017 attached as Exhibit

“27” and Exhibit “28”).

On February 23, 2018, the third COJ was filed in the Ahders action, Case No. A-18-770121-C.

(See Exhibit “3”; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Exhibit “13” at p. 2 in sections II and III ; Declaration of

Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13; and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27).

On April 25, 2019, this Court held that the Confession of Judgment was void under NRCP 60(b) and set

it aside, but consolidated the Ahders action with the Barket action. (See Exhibit “32”).

On December 13, 2019, Barket and Ahders re-filed the Ahders COJ, which this Court held as a

matter of law to be void and set aside in a new action in Case No. A-19-806944-C before Judge Cory in

Department I. At the hearing on January 29, 2020, Judge Cory vacated the COJ with prejudice. Later that
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day, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Entry of COJ in this action. (See Exhibit “35” and Exhibit “36”).

On January 20, 2020, Barket attempted to circumvent this litigation by filing another Motion to

Enforce the Settlement Agreement in the Gordon Silver action before Judge Williams. Barket requested

for Judge Williams to dismiss the claims asserted in this action between Barket, Sharda, and Trata and

requests for Judge Williams to Order Sharda to assign the original $1,500,000 in promissory notes and

COJs to Barket. The evidentiary hearing is set for March 29, 2021. (See Exhibit “37” at pp. 1:19-23, 2:5-

6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-8). Therefore, Barket clearly has an ulterior purpose to

circumvent this litigation to deprive the Defendants of a trial on the merits. 

(ii) Plaintiff Took Several Willful Act in the Use of Process That Is Not
Proper in the Regular Conduct of the Proceedings.

Barket engaged in various willful acts to misuse the legal process, which is not proper in the

regular conduct of the proceedings. He purchased a judgment against Sharda to force him to enter into a

secret settlement agreement, which he would use as a sword and a shield to circumvent this action. He

used it for strategic purposes to gag Sharda while he used him as his pawn to manipulate the Defendants.

Barket and his counsel, Barnabi and Mazur, have conceded numerous times in the Gordon Silver action

that Sharda was required to assign the five promissory notes to Barket. (See  Exhibit “9” at pp. 38 and

40, and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). Barket essentially called all the shots behind the

scenes. 

Barket made Sharda wait to assign the five promissory notes, agreements and other documents.

Barket used Sharda to increase the overall value of four of the five promissory notes, agreements and

other documents and to make them assignable by way of the CIT Agreements, which were obtained by

fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(3). (See Exhibit “26” at p. 5:10-

15). Barket and Mazur directed Sharda to pressure Hirji to execute the CIT Agreements for Cancer Care

and Trata so they could fabricate a default to circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants.

Sharda complied.

After Barket fabricated a default, Mazur filed COJs in separate actions before different judges in

the Cancer Care action and Trata action. Barket and Mazur knew that both of these COJs were

frivolous when they were filed because they were obtained by fraud, misrepresentation, or other
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misconduct pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(3). Despite this fact, they commenced aggressive post-judgment

attachment and execution efforts in accordance with the confidential settlement agreement. (See Exhibits

“17” and “18”). Therefore, these frivolous actions was clearly taken to harass the Defendants. 

On February 23, 2018, Mazur filed the COJ in the Ahders’ action in A-18-770121-C. Ahders

initial investment/loan was for $100,000. It was frivolous to file this COJ because Ahders and Barket,

had already received a total of approximately $489,000.00 from the Defendants between November 2016

and December 2017. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at Exhibit “1”;   Exhibit “3”; Exhibit “7”;

Declaration of Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit “8”; Declaration of Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit

“14” at p. 4:10-13 and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27; Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached at

Exhibit “20”; the Declaration of Michael Ahders attached as Exhibit “46”). Therefore, this frivolous

action was clearly taken to harass the Defendants. 

After Defendants successfully beat back all of the COJs, Barket re-filed the Ahders COJ in a new

action in Case No. A-19-806944-C before Judge Cory in Department I on December 13, 2019. This was

frivolous as the Ahders COJ had already been held as a matter of law to be void and set it aside by this

Court. Judge Cory vacated the COJ with prejudice on January 29, 2020. Later that day, Barket filed a

Motion for Entry of COJ in this action, which is frivolous for the reasons discussed above in detail. (See

Exhibit “35” and Exhibit “36”). Therefore, these frivolous actions were clearly taken to harass the

Defendants. 

Barket attempted to circumvent this litigation on January 20, 2020, by filing another Motion to

Enforce the Settlement Agreement. This time he filed it in the Gordon Silver action before Judge

Williams, and requested for Judge Williams to dismiss the claims asserted in this action between Barket,

Sharda, and Trata. In addition, Barket requested for Judge Williams to Order Sharda to assign the

original $1,500,000 in promissory notes and COJs to Barket. Clearly, Barket intends to initiate four

additional actions based on the original COJs to continue to harass the Defendants. (See Exhibit “37” at

pp. 1:19-23, 2:5-6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-8). Barket has engaged in various

willful acts to misuse the legal process in various proceedings before different judges to circumvent this

litigation and deprive the Defendants of a trial on the merits. Therefore, this Court should dismiss

Plaintiffs’ actions with prejudice for an abuse of process. 
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B. This Court Should Deem Plaintiff, Steven Barket, a Vexatious Litigant.

In Nevada, courts possess inherent powers of equity and control over the exercise of their

jurisdiction. Nevada courts have the power to permanently restrict a litigant’s right to access the courts

by imposing restrictive orders on vexatious litigants. See Jordan v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 121 Nev. 44,

59, 110 P.3d 30, 41-42 (2005)(reversed on other grounds). 

In determining whether to restrict a vexatious litigant’s court access the court must consider and

address the following four factors in the restrictive order: (1) whether the vexatious litigant was provided

notice of and an opportunity to respond regarding why he should not be declared a vexatious litigant and

the restrictive order should not issue; (2) whether there is an adequate record for review in the restrictive

order explaining in detail its reasons why the vexatious litigant’s court access should be restricted; (3)

whether the restrictive order contains substantive findings as to the frivolous or harassing nature of the

vexatious litigant’s actions, specifically naming the numerous complaints that were without merit or

substance and were designed to mislead and misuse the legal system; and (4) whether the restrictive

order is narrowly tailored to address the specific problem encountered, enjoining the vexatious litigant

from filing any new litigation in the Eighth Judicial District Court without first notifying the presiding

judge of that district and obtaining leave to file a new complaint. See Jones v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130

Nev. 493, 499, 330 P.3d 475, 479 (2014).  

(i) This Court Will Provide Barket with the Required Notice and an
Opportunity to Respond and Explain Why He Should Not Be
Declared a Vexatious Litigant And/or Why a Restrictive Order
Should Not Issue. 

The first factor does not require any analysis as this Court will provide Barket with the requisite

notice and an opportunity to respond and explain why he should not be declared a vexatious litigant

and/or why a restrictive order should not issue. It is unlikely that he will be able to provide a sufficient

explanation, which justifies his vexatious actions and/or a legitimate reason as to why a restrictive order

should not issue.  

(ii) This Court Should Issue a Restrictive Order Based on the Record.

Under the second factor, there is an adequate record for review, which warrants the issuance of a

restrictive order. After Barket initiated this action, he secured a secret settlement agreement with Co-
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Defendant, Sharda, which he used as a sword and shield to gag Sharda, while using him to obtain better

contracts so he could fabricate a default to circumvent this litigation and execute on the Defendants. In

furtherance of Barket’s scheme, three COJs were filed in separate actions to circumvent this litigation . 

On November 1, 2017, a COJ was filed in the Cancer Care action, Case No. A-17-763985-C in

Department XVI before Judge Williams. (See Exhibit “25”).  The same day, a second COJ was filed in

the Trata action, in Case No. A-17-763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish. (See Exhibit

“18”). On December 22, 2017, Barket videotaped the execution and Barket laughed as he told Hirji he

owns BAM. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji dated December 26, 2017 attached as Exhibit “27” and

Exhibit “28”). Barket knew that the Cancer Care COJ and Trata COJ were obtained by fraud,

misrepresentation, or other misconduct pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(3) because he orchestrated and directed

Sharda to commit fraud. Therefore, it was frivolous for Barket to have these COJs filed and/or to

execute on Defendants based on either COJ, which he clearly did to harass the Defendants. 

On February 23, 2018, a third COJ was filed in the Ahders action, Case No. A-18-770121-C.

(See Exhibit “3”; Exhibit “9” at p. 60:12-18; Exhibit “13” at p. 2 in sections II and III ; Declaration of

Michael Mazur attached as Exhibit “14” at p. 4:10-13; and Exhibit “16” at pp. 2:19-26 and 12:23-27). It

was frivolous for Barket to have this COJ filed because he and his partner, Ahders, had already received

a total of approximately $489,000.00 from the Defendants between November 2016 and December 2017

for the $100,000 investment/loan. 

On December 13, 2019, Barket frivolously had the Ahders COJ, which this Court held as a

matter of law to be void and set aside re-filed in a new action in Case No. A-19-806944-C before Judge

Cory in Department I. He also moved to execute based on this frivolous COJ that he improperly re-filed.

This action was clearly taken to harass the Defendants. The same day that Judge Cory vacated it with

prejudice, Barket filed a frivolous Motion for Entry of COJ in this action. (See Exhibit “35” and Exhibit

“36”). Therefore, it was frivolous for Barket to re-file the COJ that was previously held to be void and

set aside. 

On January 20, 2020, Barket filed another Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement in the

Gordon Silver action, Case No. A-15-712697-C, before Judge Williams. He requested for Judge

Williams to dismiss the claims asserted in this action between Barket, Sharda, and Trata and requested
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for Judge Williams to Order Sharda to assign the original $1,500,000 in promissory notes and COJs to

Barket. (See Exhibit “37” at pp. 1:19-23, 2:5-6, 2:9-12, 6:9-14; 7:16-19, 8:6-7 and 9:3 and 9:5-8). Barket

clearly intends to use the four original COJs to file four more frivolous actions to harass Defendants and

circumvent this litigation so he can execute on the Defendants. Therefore, based on this record a

restrictive order is not only warranted, but necessary to prevent Barket from abusing the legal process to 

harass Defendants with additional frivolous claims and wrongful executions. 

(iii) This Court Should Issue a Restrictive Order Based on the
Record.

 Under the third factor, this Court can issue a restrictive order with substantive findings of the

frivolous and/or harassing nature of the vexatious litigant’s actions, name the numerous actions that

were without merit and substance, which were designed to mislead and misuse the legal system, and

explain in detail its reasons why the vexatious litigant’s court access should be restricted based upon the

facts and evidence in the preceding section. 

(iv) This Court Can Narrowly Tailor an Order to Enjoin Barket
from Assigning the COJs, Notes, or Other Documents
Regarding this Matter or Filing Any New Litigation in the
Eighth Judicial District Court Without First Notifying the
Presiding Judge of Such Action and Obtaining Leave to do so.

Under the fourth factor, this Court can narrowly tailor an order to require that before any

subsequent filings are made against the Defendants relating to the COJs, notes, or other documents in

issue in this action, by assignment or otherwise, that pertain to the investments/loans that were in issue

in this case, that he/she/it must submit it to the presiding judge and obtain leave before any such filings

can be made pursuant to Jordan.  

C. This Court Should Issue a Permanent Injunction to Require Plaintiff Barket to 
Remove All Websites Regarding The Defendants, Their Family, Their Friends, 
And/or Their Counsel and Enjoin Him from Posting Any New Websites Against 
Such Persons.

The court has discretion to issue an injunction to restrain a wrongful act that gives rise to a cause

of action. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. v. Jafbros Inc., 109 Nev. 926, 928, 860 P.2d 176, 178 (1993).

Permanent injunctive relief is appropriate when there is no adequate remedy at law, a balancing of

equities favors the moving party, and success on the merits is demonstrated. Id. Equity will restrain

tortious acts where it is essential to preserve a business or property interest, including, the publication of

JA000128



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

30

false and defamatory words where it is the means or an incident of such tortious conduct. See Chateau

Vegas Wine, Inc. v. S. Wine & Spirits of Am., Inc., 127 Nev. 818, 829, 265 P.3d 680, 687 (2011), as

corrected on denial of reh'g (Apr. 17, 2012)(citing Guion v. Terra Marketing of Nevada, Inc., 90 Nev.

237, 239-240, 523 P.2d 847, 848 (1974)).

(i) Defendants do not have an adequate remedy at law. 

Defendants’ do not have an adequate remedy at law because money is insufficient to compensate

Defendants for the public confusion, infringement on their goodwill, and the damage to their reputation

in the eyes of their customers and creditors, which Barket caused. Barket ultimately destroyed five of

Defendants’ businesses. The Nevada Supreme Court recognized that the right to carry on a lawful

business without obstruction is a property right and acts committed without just cause, which interfere

with the carrying on of Plaintiff’s business or destroy its custom, credits or profits constitute an

irreparable injury and warrants the issuance of a permanent injunction. See Chateau Vegas Wine, Inc.,

127 Nev. at 829, 265 P.3d at 687; Guion, 90 Nev. at 239-240, 523 P.2d at 848; and Hansen v. Eighth

Judicial District Court ex. Rel. County of Clark, 116 Nev. 650, 658, 6 P.3d 982, 987 (2000). 

The fliers and post card mailers that Barket created inferred Hirji was an untrustworthy,

dishonest, and a scam artist, who sets up fake business fronts, and commits bankruptcy fraud to escape

his creditors. Barket sent those post card mailers to customers in the vicinity, Hirji and Brown’s business

associates, landlords, all of the tenants and employees surrounding each business, including but not

limited to the tenants and employees in the boulevard mall, neighboring business owners, and employees

of Furniture Fashions, Champagne Salon & Spa, Olivia’s Mexican Restaurant & Bar, and Furniture

Boutique. In addition, Barket sent the post card mailers to the neighbors in the communities that Hirji

and Brown lived in. (See post card mailer attached hereto as Exhibit “40” and Declaration of SHafik

Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit “41”).

Barket also created various websites, including but not limited to, shafikhirji.com;

shadyshafik.com; yasminbrown.net; klastv.vegas; and furniturefashionslasvegas.net to smear Hirji, his

family, his friends, and their business associates. Barket also created a website/webpage regarding the

Defendants’ counsel at danielmarksexamined.com. Barket portrayed Hirji, his family, their businesses,

and their business associates in a negative light on his various websites and/or web pages by making
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statements similar to those in the post card mailers to harm the reputation of Hirji, his family, and their

business and/or to financially harm Hirji, Brown, their family, and their businesses. (See websites

attached hereto as Exhibits “42” through “45”). 

Barket’s actions harmed the Defendants’ reputations and the reputation of their businesses. It

also interfered with the operations of the Defendants’ two salons, two restaurants, and the Sunset

Furniture store by destroying their profits, which led to the closure of those businesses. (See Declaration

of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit “41”). Therefore, a permanent injunction should issue to

require Barket to remove the websites and to preclude him from creating any new websites regarding the

Defendants, their family, and their businesses because Barket’s actions destroyed five of the Defendants’

businesses, which constitutes an irreparable injury. 

(ii) A balancing of equities favors the Defendants.
 

Barket’s action caused Defendants’ two restaurants, two salons, and the new furniture store,

which was the basis of this litigation to go out of business. Defendants are still responsible for the

liabilities associated with each of these businesses, including but not limited to vendor contracts and

leases. Barket continues to target the Defendants’ remaining furniture stores and auto repair stores. 

Barket will likely assert that the tortious speech in his postcards/mailers and on his websites is

entitled to protection under the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment. First Amendment

protections only apply for a matter of political, social or other concern to the community or a subject of

legitimate news interest. The court can restrict speech when matters of private significance are at issue

because it does not implicate the same constitutional concerns. See Snyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. 1207,

1215-1216, 562 U.S. 443, 452 (2011). The first amendment cannot be used as a cloak or veil for

intentionally tortious conduct that is only tangentially related to the claimed matter of public concern.

See Powell v. Jones-Soderman, 433 F. Supp. 3d 353, 370 (D. Conn. 2020).

Barket attempts to turn Hirji and his family into public figures even though they are not public

figures to publicize his private animus toward the Defendants with impunity. Barket’s personal websites

are not affiliated with the government. Barket accuses Defendants through his statements and/or

comments of committing various crimes, including but not limited to, elder abuse, prostitution, and/or

financial crimes. Barket slammed Nevada’s Attorney General, Adam Laxault, on his website for not
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prosecuting Defendants based upon Barket’s outlandish theory of elder abuse. (See Exhibit “42”).

Further, Barket created another website to unleashed a personal attack on an account executive at KLAS

TV for being a business associate of the Defendants. (See Exhibit “”44). Lastly, Barket created another

website to attack Defendants’ counsel. (See Exhibit “45”). The pending contract dispute is derived from

a private business dispute and is akin to a dispute between neighbors, which is a matter of private

concern, rather than, public concern. 

The court must examine the content, form (vehicle), and context of the speech to determine

whether the speech is of public or private concern. See Snyder v. Phelps, 131 S. Ct. at 1216, 562 U.S. at

453-454. The parties to this action had a contractual relationship. After a disputes arose their relationship

broke down. Barket’s accusations surfaced in the form of postcards/mailers and on the various private

smear websites he created. However, his statements and accusations are not  matters of public concern,

especially when considered in the context of the pending contract dispute. See Gleason v. Smolinski, 319

Conn. 394, 416, 125 A.3d 920, 938 (Conn. 2015)(citing Sartain v. White, 588 So.2d 204, 213 (Miss.

1991). Barket’s smear websites are not related to matters of political, social or other concern to the

community or a subject of legitimate news interest. Barket began the websites in approximately April

2017 after their relationship broke down. Barket has continued to update the websites for more than

three years through May 14, 2020. Barket’s statements were made with a reckless disregard for their

veracity. (See Exhibits “40” and “42” through “45”). Therefore, this Court should issue a permanent

injunction because the equities favor the Defendants and Barket’s statements are not protected by the

first amendment because they relate to matters of private concern.

(iii) Defendants have demonstrated that they will succeed on the merits. 

Defendants’ have shown that they will succeed on the merits. As previously stated, Plaintiffs’

claims are based on the MOU, which required Barket to invest $1 million dollars. (See Exhibit “6” at p.

1 in the second, fourth and fifth full paragraphs). Barket materially breached the agreement by failing to

invest any money with the Defendants. Barket’s partners, Sharda  and Ahders confirmed that Barket did

not invest any money with the Defendants. (See Exhibit “9” at pp. 65:3-9 and 67:3-5; Exhibit “10” at p.

6:18-20; and Declaration of Michael Ahders attached hereto as Exhibit “46”). Therefore, this Court

should issue a permanent injunction to require Barket to remove all the websites reference above and
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enjoin Barket from creating any new websites regarding Defendants, their families, their businesses,

and/or business associated because Defendants will succeed on the merits.

D. This Court Should Award Attorney’s Fees and Costs to Defendants.

    NRS 18.010  Award of attorney’s fees.

      1.  The compensation of an attorney and counselor for his or her services is governed by agreement,
express or implied, which is not restrained by law.

      2.  In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific statute, the court may make
an allowance of attorney’s fees to a prevailing party:

      (a) When the prevailing party has not recovered more than $20,000; or

      (b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that the claim,
counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or defense of the opposing party
was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing
party. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of
awarding attorney’s fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent of the
Legislature that the court award attorney’s fees pursuant to this paragraph and
impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in all
appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and
defenses because such claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources,
hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging
in business and providing professional services to the public.

      3.  In awarding attorney’s fees, the court may pronounce its decision on the fees at the conclusion of
the trial or special proceeding without written motion and with or without presentation of
additional evidence.

This Court should award Defendants attorney’s fees and costs for having to defend against the

various frivolous actions that Plaintiffs initiated to harass the Defendants. This includes this action; the

Ahders action, Case No. A-18-770121-C, which was consolidated with this action; the Cancer Care

action, Case No. A-17-763985-C; the Trata action, in Case No. A-17-763995-C; and the second Ahders

action, Case No. A-19-806944-C. 

III. CONCLUSION

Therefore, based upon the foregoing, this Court should dismiss the Plaintiffs’ complaint with

prejudice pursuant to NRCP 41(e)(6). In addition, this Court should dismiss the Plaintiffs’ complaint for

abuse of process. Further, this Court should deem Plaintiff, Steven Barket, a vexatious litigant and issue

a permanent injunction to require Barket to remove all websites regarding the Defendants, their family,

their friends, and/or their counsel and enjoin him from posting any new websites against such persons.

This Court should award Defendants’ attorney’s fees and costs for having to defend against the
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Plaintiffs' various frivolous actions.

DATEDthisz#yofJuly,2020.

OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKSiE=
EL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003
TELETHA ZUPAN, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 012660
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Defendants

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I aln an employee of the Law Office of Daniel Marks and that on the

day of July, 2020, pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2,  I electronically transmitted a

true and correct copy of the above and foregoing DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS

PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE PURSUANT TO NRCP 41(e)(6) AND/OR

FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS; DEEM PLAINTIFF, STEVEN BARKET, A VEXATIOUS

LITIGANT; ISSUE A PERMANENT INJUNCTION TO REQUIRE PLAINTIFF BARKET TO
A

REMOVE ALL WEBSITES REGARDING THE DEFENDANTS AND OTHERS, AND TO

ENJOIN BARKET FROM POSTING ANY NEW WEBSITES AGAINST SUCH PERSONS;

AND AWARD DEFENDANTS' ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS by way of Notice of Electronic

Filing provided by the court mandated E-file & Serve system to the following:

Charles Barnabi, Esq.,
375 E. Wami Springs Road, Ste.104
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Attorney for Plaintiffs

Harold P. Gewerter, Esq.
HAROLD P. GEWERTER, ESQ. LTD.
Attorney f;or Defendants, Navneet Sharda arid Trata, Inc.
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1 APPX 
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 

2 DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 

3 610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

4 (702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812
Attorney for Defendants, Shafik Hirji, 

5 Shafik Brown, and Furniture Boutique, LLC 

6 

7 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

8 STEVEN BARKET, an individual; and 065 
VENTURES, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability 

9 Company, 

10 Plaintiffs, 

11 vs. 

12 SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 
BROWN, an individual; and NA VEET 

13 SHARDA, an individual; FURNITURE 
BOUTIQUE, LLC, a Nevada Limited 

14 Liability Company, and DOES I-X, inclusive 
and ROE CORPORATIONS XI through XX. 

15 

16 
Defendants. 

I 
--------------

17 NA VEET SHARDA, an individual; 
TRATA, INC., a Nevada Corporation; 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Counterclaimants, 

vs. 

STEVEN BARKET, an individual, 

Counterdefendant. 
22 =�����������/SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 
23 BROWN, an individual; and FURNITURE 

BOUTIQUE, LLC, a Nevada Limited 
24 Liability Company; 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Counter-Claimants, 
VS. 

STEVEN BARKET, an individual, 

Counter-Defendant. 
I 

--------------

Case No.: 
Case No.: 
Dept. No.: 

A-17-756274-C
A-18-770121-C
IV

Date of Hearing:   
Time of Hearing: 

Appendices for Defendants' Motion 
to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint with 
Prejudice and for Related Relief 

(Volume I of VIII) 

Case Number: A-17-756274-C

Electronically Filed
7/29/2020 4:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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danielmarksexamined. com website

Declaration of Michael Ahders

DATED this Jzi day of July, 2020.

DOC NOS.

628-646

647-649

Nevada State Bar No. 002003

E:?aEdEHs%[3E:?#6.EoS|8660
610 South Ninth Street

i:tso¥eegy¥foieB:feang:igsl

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I arm an employee of the Law Office of Daniel Marks and that on the

day of July, 2020, pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2,  I electronically

iitted a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO

NDICES VOLUME I of VIII FOR DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS

TIFFS' COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE AND FOR RELATED RELIEF by way

ice of Electronic Filing provided by the court mandated E-file & Serve system to the

ing:

Charles Barnabi, Esq.,
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Ste.104

i:So¥nee8yag8rNpeLva::ta±f8E:119

EArfr]6LpbGp%eEIt#RSTqiR,ESQ.LTD.
Attorney for Defendants, Navneet Sharda and Trata, Inc.
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AFFIDAVIT OF SHAFIK HIRJI 

STATE OF NEV ADA 

COUNTY OF CLARK 

) 
) ss: 

) 

/Ill 

SHAFIK HIRJI, being first duly sworn deposes and says under penalty of perjury: 

1. I am a Defendant in this matter and I make this Affidavit based upon my personal knowledge

and in support of the Motion to Vacate the Judgment Entered on February 27, 2018 pursuant

to NRS 17.090 through NRS 17.110; to Take Judicial Notice of Related Actions; Alternative

Motion for Stay of Execution pursuant to NRCP 62; and/or Motion to Consolidate with Case

No. A-17-756274-C pursuant to NRCP 42, and am competent to testify as to the matters set

forth herein.

2. I am from Tanzania, which is in East Africa. I was thirteen years old when I moved to the

United States in 1971. I struggled in school because English was my second language. I

ultimately dropped out of High School in New York at the beginning of my junior year. In

2000, I moved to Nevada.

3. Around September 2016, I met Steven Barket at the Mercedes dealer. My son, Shafik Brown

(hereafter "Brown"), owns Boulevard Furniture Inc. (hereafter "Boulevard"), which does

business as Furniture Fashions and is a chain of furniture stores with two locations in Las

Vegas. I operate Furniture Fashions. After our initial meeting, Barket purchased a sofa and

other furniture from Furniture Fashions. We quickly became close friends.

4. We met often on a casual basis to discuss our business operations over coffee or lunch.

Barket told me he owned and/or operated various lucrative business ventures. Barket told me

he was most passionate about his internet marketing business. In or around

September/October 2016, Barket told me that he finished a job for Sheldon Adelson, the

owner of the Venetian Hotel & Casino, and was paid two hundred fifty thousand

($250,000.00) dollars; and worked with many other reputable businessmen on Wall Street,

Washington D.C., and Florida. Barket claimed that he received stock, which is now worth

millions of dollars and wanted to make investments with it. Around September 2016, Barket

told me that he had a net worth of approximately eighteen million ($18,000,000.00) dollars.
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